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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

CENTER FOR RESTORATIVE CIVIL ACTION
BREAST SURGERY, L.L.C., ET AL.

VERSUS NO. 10-4346
HUMANA HEALTH BENEFIT SECTION "L" (2)

PLAN OF LOUISIANA, INC., ET AL.

ORDER & REASONS

Before the Court are Defendants Humana Hegdthefit Plan of Louisiana, Inc., Humana
Inc., and Humana Health Plan, Inc.'s (colley "Humana") (1) Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment on Plaintiffs’ Proderal Violation Claim (Rec. Do 164); (2) Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment for Dismidsd ERISA Claims Time Bari by Contractual Limitations
Period (Rec. Doc. 167); (3) Motion for Partial Summary Judgment based on Improper Defendant
(Rec. Doc. 168); (4) Motion for Partial Summaiudgment as to Plaintiffs’ ERISA 502(c)
Claims (Rec. Doc. 170); and (5) Motion forrfa Summary Judgment Based on Plaintiffs’
Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies (R2ac. 171). Having considered the applicable
law and the parties’ mema@a, the Court now issu#ss Order & Reasons.

l. BACKGROUND

This case arises out of alleged underpaytrfier medical services. The Center for
Restorative Breast Surgery, LLC ("Centgr&rforms post-mastectomy breast reconstruction
medical services, and St. Charles Surgical Hakfi6t. Charles") provides hospital services in
connection with those procedures. Both the €eand St. Charles provided these services to
patients who were participants in Humana's Employee Retirement Income Security Act

("ERISA") plan. The ERISA plan permits patte to obtain services from out-of-network
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providers, such as the Center and St. Chaded in turn Humana calculates and pays
reimbursements to the providers of thoseisess In calculating #nreimbursement, they
consider the reasonable and customary rate.

The Center and St. Charles @l¢his action in the Civil District Court for the Parish of
Orleans seeking benefits on behalf of thetrgrds and seeking reimbursements, on their own
behalf, for services they had provided tdigrats covered by Humana (collectively “the
Plaintiffs”). On November 17, 2010, Humana rent@ this Court on the basis that the Center
and St. Charles' claims were preempted by ERISA. (Rec. Doc. 1). On December 12, 2010, the
Center and St. Charles sought remand (Rec. B which the Court denied on March 22, 2011
(Rec. Doc. 22). Humana then filed a Mwtito Dismiss on April 15, 2011, and while it was
pending, the Center and St. Charles filed a Motar Leave to Amend their Complaint. (Rec.
Doc. 33). On July 20, 2011, the Court granted@enter and St. Charles' Motion for Leave to
Amend their Complaint and denied Humana's blotio Dismiss the original complaint. (Rec.
Doc. 45).

In their amended complaint, the Center &dCharles assert claims against Humana
under ERISA and state law. (Rec. Doc. 46). Witspect to their ERISAlaims, the Center and
St. Charles seek recovery as assignees of their patients, asserting that Humana breached its
fiduciary duty of loyalty and caréailed to provide full and faireview, and violated the claims
procedures. The Center and Gharles seek recovery on theirmehalf and assert state law
claims of detrimental reliance, fraud, negligemsrepresentation, breaohcontract, and unjust
enrichment, for which the Center and St. Chaskxk recovery on their own behalf. They also
claim Humana violated the Louisiana Unfaiadie Practices Act ("LUTPA") and the Louisiana

Insurance Code. In response to the amendexbleant, Humana filed a Motion to Dismiss the
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above-listed claims (Rec. Doc. 49). After that motion had been fully briefed by the parties (Rec.
Docs. 49, 53, 56, 60), the Court stayed the proceedings on October 122k joint motion

of the parties (Rec. Doc. 61). On Septenthet013, the Court lifted thetay on the motion of

the Center and St. Charles. (Rec. Doc. 63). Atrdguest of the partiethie Court continued the
Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint.

On March 27, 2014, the Court gtad Humana’s Motion to Dismiss in part and denied it
in part. (Rec. Doc. 65). Specifically, it concludedt the Center and Stharles had sufficiently
alleged their ERISA, detrimental reliance uda negligent misrepresexion, and breach of
contract claims, but not their unjust enrichmétdTPA, and Louisiana Insurance Code claims.
The Court denied Humana’'s Motion for Reconsideration. (Rec. Doc. 80). On July 7, 2014,
Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Leave to File an Amended Exhibit 1 to the Amended Complaint in
order to add patients to their Complaint. (R2oc. 81). The Court granted Plaintiffs’ leave on
July 10, 2014.

To date, Plaintiffs bring this suit on behalftobbmselves and as assignees of 109 patients.
Fifty-four (54) of those ptiients were members of employee group health plans governed by
ERISA. The parties indicated the Court that disposition of the ERISA claims would inform
the disposition of the non-ERISA claims, so theu@ bifurcated the proceedings and ordered the
parties to proceed with the ERISA claims while staying the non-ERISA claims. (Rec. Doc. 117).
While the Court initially ordered the partiessiabmit their briefs regarding the ERISA claims on
February 23, 2015, Humana relayed to the Courtitldshed to file a number of dispositive
motions that would resolve many of the ERISAils. The Court thusonverted the February

23, 2015 briefing deadline into the deadline fa farties to submit dispositive motions. (Rec.



Doc. 158). Humana subsequently filed six (6) motions for summary judgment related to the
ERISA claims'

Il. PRESENT MOTIONS

Plaintiffs recently filed a Motion for Leavto Conduct Supplemental Discovery and ask
the Court to withhold dispositionf these motions for partial sumary judgment until discovery
is complete. (Rec. Doc. 241-1 at 10). Pléistihowever, fail to articulate how additional
discovery will inform disposition of these motigommrticularly since thescases are all governed
by ERISA, and this Court’s review is limited the administrative record. Although some
additional information is requirei effectuate this Order & Reasons, the incomplete record is
not due to any alleged failure by the Defendamigrovide complete discovery responses.
Rather, the Court is unable tesdern the precise nature of Plaintiffs’ claims on behadfach
patient, including the facts and datelevant to those claims. iShnformation should be within
Plaintiffs’ possession, as they are the masterseaf tlwn claims. The Court will seek to rectify
this problem by requiring Plaintiffs to submit additional materials, as specified throughout this
Order & Reasons, and a detailed chart settingp fach patient's ERISA claims. First, the Court
will dispose of those dispositive motions before the Court.

A. The Standard

Summary judgment is propeff the pleadings, depositiorsnswers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together with the affidguftany, show that there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and that the moving partgnsitied to a judgment as a matter of law.”
Celotex Corp. VCatrett 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) (citing Fé&l.Civ. P. 56(c)). “Rule 56(c)

mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion,

! Humana filed a Motion for Summary Judgment aairRtiffs’ Medicare Advardage Claims (Rec. Doc.
155), but the Court granted Plaintiffs’ voluntarily dissal of those claims with gjudice (Rec. Doc. 240).
Accordingly, only five (5) motionare currently before the Court.
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against a party who fails to make a showing sidfit to establish the estence of an element
essential to that party's case, and on which thg péll bear the burden of proof at trial Itl.
When considering a motion for summary judgment, the district court “will review the facts
drawing all inferences most favorable to the party opposing the motieid v. Stat&arm

Mut. Auto. Ins. Cq.784 F.2d 577, 578 (5th Cir. 1986)he court must find “[a] factual dispute
[to be] ‘genuine’ if the evidence is such tlaateasonable jury could return a verdict for the
nonmoving party [and a] fact [to be] 'materialtimight affect the outcome of the suit under the
governing substantive law.Beck v. Somerset Techs., |r832 F.2d 993, 996 (5th Cir. 1989)
(citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).

B. Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's Procedural Violation
Claim (Rec. Doc. 164)

1. Parties’ Arguments

Humana asks this Court to grant summary judgt on Plaintiffs’ claims for full and fair
review, set forth in Count Il of the Amended@plaint, and Plaintiffs’ claims for procedural
violations, set forth in Count V of the Amemt€omplaint (collectively referred to as the
“Procedural Violation Claims”). (Rec. Dot64 at 2). Humana caerids that Section 56
ERISA outlines the requirements relating to benefit plan claims procedures but does not provide
any remedial provisions, so a plaintiff seekiegress for alleged Section 503 violations must
link that violation to the approjate, private remedial provisia@ontained in Section 502(a) of
ERISA. (Rec. Doc. 164-2). In support of this proposition, HumanaR#&dgidge Med. Cir.

Inc. v. CPC Logistics, Inc. Group Benefisscase where the district court inferred that the

plaintiff's procedural claims arose undgection 502(a)(3)No.12-124, 2013 WL 3976621, at

2 Section 503 of ERISA is set forth in 29 U.S.C. § 1888 Section 502 of ERISA is set forth in 29 U.S.C.
§ 1332. Courts, and the parties in this case, use tHeserees interchangeably. Agch, the Court will refer to
both throughout this Order & Reasons.

5



*17 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 2, 2013) (Collier, J.). Hekymana argues that Plaintiffs’ Procedural
Violation Claims are properly asserted under Section 502(a)(3), ardRmatiffs are also
seeking to recover under Sectld2(1)(B), they are barred froeimultaneously asserting these
Procedural Violation Claims. (Reboc. 164-2 at 4-5). Humana statthat “it iswell settled law
in this circuit that a potential beneficiary,egvif ultimately unsuccessful, suing to recover
benefits under section 502(a)(1)(B), may uatilize the ‘catchall’ provision of section
502(a)(3).” (Rec. Docl64-2 at 5) (quotingylet Life Ins.Co. v. Palme238 F. Supp. 2d 831,
835 (E.D. Tex. 2002)) (internal quotations omitteHumana goes on to state that “[w]hile some
courts have relaxed rules of pleading such that they will permit a plaintiff to plead Section
502(a)(1)(B) and Section 502(a)(3) claims simultankptise law is clear tht those claims may
not be simultaneously maintained on the meaits] that the extraneous Section 502(a)(3) claim
should be dismissed on summary judgmeriRec. Doc. 164-2 at 6).

Plaintiffs oppose the motion and distinguish the facts fPamkridge averring that “[t]he
[Parkridgg court did not hold that there was any legajuirement that any and all procedural
claims and full and fair review claims must brought under [Secti&@®2(a)(3)] instead of
[502(a)(1)(B)].” (Rec. Doc. 200 at 4). Plaiifgicontend that they do not seek recovery under
Section 502(a)(3) for their Seati 503 claims, as “the Fifth Circuit does not mandate that a
claim under 29 U.S.C. § 1133 seek relief under 29@).81132(a)(3).” (Rec. Doc. 200 at 5).
Fifth Circuit precedent, Plaintiffimaintain, rather permits Plaiffi to seek relief under Section
503 and Section 502(a)(1)(B). (Rec. Doc. 200 at 5-6). PlaintiffRkoitenson v. Aetna Life Ins.
Co,, 442 F.3d 389 (5th Cir. 2006) as support for this proposition.

Humana replies and avers that Berkridgecourt determined thatrocedural violations

claims arise under Section 502(a)(3) because daaghs are equitable. (Rec. Doc. 213 at 2)
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(quotingParkridge 2013 WL 3976621, at *17). Huoana further contends that other courts have
reached this conclusion. Humana avers th#tié¢[overall point here is this: Plaintiffs’
Procedural Violation Claim is n@in independent cause of actithrough which they can obtain
relief above and beyond [w]hatay are seeking in their Semti 502(a)(1)(B) benefit claim.”
(Rec. Doc. 213 at 5).

Plaintiffs filed a sur-reply and argue thdrkridgeshould be limited to the facts of that
case, because there, Parkridgeplaintiff did not expessly invoke a specific ERISA section in
his Complaint. Thus, Plaintiffs argue the dddtcourt was compelletb make its own finding
that plaintiff's Section 503 claim arose undect8m 502(a)(3). Plaintiffs maintain that
Robinsordemonstrates how a Section 503 claimfoam the basis for an award under Section
502(a)(1)(B). (Rec. Doc. 233 at 1). Plaintdigue that they “have asserted violations of
ERISA Section 503 that go beyond merely seekingfiteribat should have been paid, but were
not.” (Rec. Doc. 233 at 3). Piffs point to the following clans as examples of allegations
that cannot be fully remedied by the “mere awarteafefits that should have been paid in the
first instance”:

Defendants have made allowabée fdeterminations without valid

or appropriate data to supporeduced payments, made fee
determinations on claims submitted by the subscribers listed in
Exhibit 1 that were not for the same or similar services,
systematically and knowingly underpaid all claims for out-of-
network services, made fee deteratians that reduced the stated
percentage of Plaintiffs’ chargesthout valid data to support such
determinations, and retaliated against their subscribers in some
cases by unjustifiably down coding the complex procedures
performed and paying for a less complex procedure. Plaintiffs have
also alleged that Defendantagaged in fraudulent conduct and

other conduct that also qualfieas a breach of fiduciary
obligations.



(Rec. Doc. 233 at 5). Plaintiffs go on to aveattju]nless and until th€ourt rules that these
practices are in violation &RISA and orders a halt to tleepractices, the Defendants will
continue in their waywardonduct.” (Rec. Doc. 233 at 5).

2. Law and Analysis

Count Il of Plaintiffs’ Complat alleges that Humana failé¢o provide a full and fair
review under ERISA, and Count V alleges tHatmana failed to comply with the claims
procedures defined by federal laa¥, in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1133 or Section 503 of ERISA.
(Rec. Doc. 46 at 15-18). Plaintiffs contendttthey bring their &ction 503 claims under
Section 502(a)(1)(B), but Stan 502(a)(1)(B) provides no caasf action for Section 503
claims. Rather, “Section 1132(a)(8P2(a)(3)] allows a party tbring a civil action for relief
when the requirements of § 1133 are not méttihlreyer v. Armco, Incl2 F.3d 75, 78 n.2 (6th
Cir. 1993). See also Tolle v. Carroll Touch, In®77 F.2d 1129, 1135 (7th Cir. 1992) (“If a
participant does not receive thetice and review that he oresfs entitled undeSection 503, the
participant may bring a civil enforcement actiomder Section 502(a)(3) afel) of ERISA.”).
Indeed, the remedy for a violation o#@&ion 503 is equitable in nature amat monetary, as
urged by the PlaintiffsSee Krauss v. Oxford Health Plans, |rigl7 F.3d 614, 630 (2d Cir.
2008) (*A full and fair review concerns a beneficiary’s procedugts, for which the typical
remedy is remand for further administrative reviewgyi v. RSM McGladrey, IndNo. 12-
8787, 2014 WL 4809942, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2014y the extent that Plaintiff intends
to allege a claim directly undsection 1133, based on the all@g®ncompliance, such a claim
would not provide Plaintiff with access tayaof the monetary redress he seeksSjnith v.

Champion Int'l Corp220 F. Supp. 2d 124, 129 (D. Conn. 2002) (“[T]he usual remedy for a



violation of 8 1333 would be equitable in nausuch as remanding plaintiffs’ claims for
benefits to the LTD Plans administratorfisiuciary for a ‘full and fair review™).

Humana cite®arkridge Med. Ctr. Inc. v. CPC Logistics, Inc. Group Beneltsupport
for the proposition that all d?laintiffs’ Section 503 claims fall under Section 502(a)(3), but
Plaintiffs argue that the case da®t apply because the plaintiifthat case did not specify
under which ERISA section she brought her ®acs03 claims. Plaintiffs’ argument rings
hollow, as thdParkridgecourt deduced that the claims fell under Section 502(a)(3) because a
plan participant caonly bring Section 503 claims under Section 502(afaykridge Med. Ctr.
Inc. v. CPC Logistics, Inc. Group Benefitdo. 12-124, 2013 WL 3976621, at *25 (E.D. Tenn.
Aug. 2, 2013) (“*Although 8 1133 is the substantiequirement, Plaintiff's action would be
brought pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 81132(a)(3)....”). naged above, other coutave applied this
principle, and crucially, this @urt was unable to find a singlewrt that has held that a plan
participant could bring a claifor Section 503 violations und&ection 502(a)(1)(B). Indeed,
Plaintiffs failed to cite a singlease that stood for this proposition.

Humana seeks refuge in thdth Circuit’s opinion inRobinson v. Aetna Life Ins. Cbut
this reliance is misplaced because the Fiftlt@i never spoke to the issue of whether a
beneficiary could use Section 502(a)(1)(B) to pursuedi@ 503 claim. In that case, the Fifth
Circuit overruled the districtourt’s granting of summary judgent in favor of the plan
administrator and granted summary judgmeriavror of the plan beneficiary. 443 F.3d at 396.
The Fifth Circuit first found thathe plan did not substantialtpmply with Section 503, the
procedural violation, and then held that fhlan administratortaused its discretion by
terminating the beneficiary’s benefits, the subtanviolation. While Plaintiffs are correct in

their claim that the Fifth Circuit did not mandatat the beneficiarpursue his procedural
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violation claim under section 502(a)(3), thidecause the Fifth Cirdudid not speak to the
procedural posture of the pleadings at allthieg the Fifth Circuit remanded the case to the
District Court to determine damagédg. (@t 396), and the Distric@ourt ultimately awarded the
beneficiary an amount that the Dist Court found to constitute “the past benefits owed to him
under the plan."Robinson v. Aetna Life Ins. C&No. 04-371, Rec. Doc. 42 at 1 (Aug. 16, 2006
W.D. Tex.). Such an outcome, rather thaovpting support for Plaintiffs’ position, signals to
the Court that the thrusf the Fifth Circuit’s decision wafocused on the wrongful denial of
benefits under Sectior03(a)(1)(B), the substantive violaticard not on a finding as to how to
plead a Section 503 claim.

Now that the Court has determined thatilés’ Section 503 claims are before the
Court under Section 502(a)(3), it is next necesgagetermine whether Plaintiffs can maintain
these claims while simultaneously pursuing their claims under Sectioa)80)28). The Court
concludes that they cannot. The Supreme Gumaststated that Sectié02(a)(3) serves as a
“safety net, offering appropriate @tpble relief for injuries cawesl by violations that [Section]
502 does not elsewhere adequately remetanity Corp. v. Howes16 U.S. 489, 512 (1996).
The Supreme Court noted that “where Cosgrelsewhere provided adequate relief for a
beneficiary’s injury, there will likely be no need fiurther equitable relief, in which case such
relief normally would nbbe appropriate.1d. at 513. The Fifth Circuit followed this reasoning
in Tolson v. Avondale Industries, In¢41 F.3d 604, 610-11{%Cir. 1998). Adopting the
District Court’s analysis, the Fifth Circuit hetldlat because the plaintiff “has adequate relief
available for the alleged improper denial of d@aehrough his right t@sue the Plans directly
under Section 1132(a)(1), relief through the applicatioBeadtion 1132(a)(3) would be

inappropriate.”ld. at 610. Indeed, the Fifth Circuit found that Trasonplaintiff's attempt to
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maintain his breach of fiduciary duty claim un&ection 1132(a)(3) was “woefully unavailing.”
Id. See also Rohorer v. RaytimeEngineers & Constructors, Ind.81 F.3d 634, 639 (5th Cir.
1999) (“[B]ecause § 1132(a)(1)(Bifards [Plaintiff] an avenue for legal redress, she may not
simultaneously maintain her claim for breacHidficiary duty [under § 1132(a)(3)].”)

This understanding of the remedial provisionEBASA is widespread. “[F]ederal courts
have uniformly concluded that,a plaintiff can pursue benés under the plan pursuant to
Section [502](a)(1), there is an adequataedy under the plan which bars a further remedy
under Section[502](a)(3).Larocca v. Borden, Inc276 F.3d 22, 28 (1st Cir. 2002ge also
Conley v. Pitney Bowe476 F.3d 1044, 1047 (8th Cir. 1998patz v. Comprehensive Plan of
Group Ins, 197 F.3d 1084, 1087-89 (11th Cir. 1999rsyth v. Humana, Inc114 F.3d 1467,
1475 (9th Cir. 1997)\Wilkins v. Baptist Healthcare Sys., Int50 F.3d 609, 615 (6th Cir. 1998);
Coyne & Delany Co. v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of ¥&2 F.3d 712, 715 (4th Cir. 1996).

The Sixth Circuit, sittingen bang¢recently reaffirmed this position Rochow v. Life Ins.
Co. of North Americand rejected the appellant’s positibiat he was entitled to a remedy under
both Section 502(a)(1) and 502(a)(3). In ittedmination, the Sixth Circuit found that the
appellant’s claimed injuries were indistinguishalaled he could therefore not seek an equitable
remedy under Section 502(a)(3) when he awarded benefits under Section 502(a)(1). 780
F.3d 364, 375 (6th Cir. 2015). The court noted:

A claimant can pursue a breachfiduciary-duty claim under §
502(a)(3), irrespective of the degrof success obtained on a claim
for recovery of benefits unde§ 502(a)(1)(B), only where the
breach of fiduciary duty claim is based oniajury separate and
distinct from the denial of benefits or where the remedy afforded

by Congress under § 502(a)(1)(B) is otherwise shown to be
inadequate.
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Id. at 372. (emphasis added). The Sixth Circuit thus held that “[d]espite Rochow’s attempts to
obtain equitable relief by repackaging the wraglenial of benefits claim as a breach-of-
fiduciary duty claim, there is but one remediglig and it is properlyand adequately remedied
under 8 502(a)(1)(B).1d.

The same is true here. Plaintiffs’ claitosrecover plan benefits constitute the
predominate cause of action in this suit. Moreover, Plaintiffs’ Procedigiations Claims are
based on injuries that are intiigyuishable from the denial bkenefits. In other words,

Plaintiffs’ claims that Humana failed to providdull and fair review (Gunt 11l of Complaint,
Rec. Doc. 46) and that Humawialated claims procedures (Coufitof Complaint, Rec. Doc.
46) are essentially claims to puesbenefits owed under the plavihile Plaintiffs aver in their
sur-reply that the mere awarding of benefith mot providerecourse for these Procedural
Violation injuries, Plaintiffs fail to articulateowthese injuries are distinct from Plaintiffs’
insufficient benefit payments. For instance, PlEsassert that “Plaintiffs will be left to deal
with concerns as to how the Defendants’ wrohgfactices interfered with their physician-
patient relationships and future impact ofsinterference on their medical practice and
hospital,” but this statement dedes an amorphous injury and dasot specify another, suitable
remedy that would cure this amorphous injufirec. Doc. 233 at 4). Rather, the Court finds
that the payment of plan bertsfwill provide an adequatemedy, as the Procedural Violation
Claims all resulted in alleged underpayment torfifés and is the injury upon which the claims
rest. Plaintiffs therefore cannsimultaneously sustain thesgpaeate claims under 502(a)(3).
Accordingly,IT IS ORDERED that Humana’s Motion foPartial Summary Judgment

on Plaintiffs’ Procedural Viol&n Claims (Rec. Doc. 164) GRANTED.
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C. Humana’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment for Dismissal of ERISA
Claims Time Barred by Contractual Limitations Period (Rec. Doc. 167)

1. Parties’ Arguments

Humana asks this Court to grant sumnjadgment on eight (8f the total claims
asserted on behalf of the 54 ERISA patients,iaggthat those claims are contractually time-
barred. (Rec. Doc. 167-9 at 3)he eight (8) claims involve fivéb) different ERISA patients.
(Rec. Doc. 167-9 at 4). Humana avers thabfalhe relevant ERISAlans included language
that required beneficiaries toibg lawsuits within one (1) yeand 180 days or 545 days after a
final determination of a timely filed appedRec. Doc. 167-9 at 4-12). Humana therefore
argues that because Plaintiffs amended their complaint on July 7, 2014 to add these claims, these
eight (8) claims are contractually time barreddese that date fell after the one (1) year and 180
day limit. Humana argues that the “Supreme Couwsthedd that the courts must give effect to an
ERISA plan’s limitations provisionnless it determines eitheratithe period is unreasonably
short or that a controlling statute preventsliméations provision from taking effect.” (Rec.

Doc. 167-9 at 14) (citingleimeshoff v. Hartford Life & Acc. Ins. Cd.34 S.Ct. 605, 612
(2013)). Here, Humana contends the (f)eyear and 180 day ligations provision is
reasonable because the Fifth Circuit has tiedtia 120 day provision was reasonable, and the
Supreme Court found a one-year provision readengRec. Doc. 167-9 at 15).

Plaintiffs oppose the motion. Plaintiffs conedfiat the applicable contractual period is
one (1) year and 180 days, but Plaintiffs arga¢ since the Court stayed the case from October
11, 2011 until September 5, 2013, this period should be excluded from the time needed to file
suit. (Rec. Doc. 201 at 4). Plaintiffs argue tiet Court should considdris time as “equitable
tolling,” as outlined by the Supreme CourtHeimeshoff (Rec. Doc. 201 at 3-4). With this

period excluded, Plaintiffs argue that they tynfded their claims. (Rec. Doc. 201 at 4).
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Plaintiffs further argue that ¢hexhibits offered by Humana fad establish that the contracts
were in effect when Plaintiffs received treatm from the Center and St. Charles. Finally,
Plaintiffs maintain that if the Court finds th@immary judgment is appropriate on those claims,
the Court should only grant summary judgmenti@ir Section 502(1)(a)(B) claims and not for
the allegations of improper pitaaes. (Rec. Doc. 201 at 7)

Humana replies with leave of Court and ndted “Plaintiffs do not contest the fact that
all 8 claims are time barred by the clear terms of the policies.” (Rec. Doc. 210 at 1). Humana
contends that equitable tolling undéeimeshoffs inapplicable to this case, as tHeimeshoff
Court explained that equitakielling would only be appropria when the administrator’s
conduct causes the beneficiary to miss the fillegdline. (Rec. Doc. 210 at 3). Further,
Humana argues that the stay dmt prevent the patients from guing their claims themselves,
as the stapnly applied to the Center and St. CharleseqRDoc. 210 at 4). Humana states that
it is “notable” that “Plaintiffs still waited nearlg year after the stay was lifted to add these 8
claims to their suit,” indicatinthat Plaintiffs were not contengilng adding these claims within
one (1) year and 180 day timeframe. (Rec. Doc.&XB). In response laintiffs’ allegations
that the exhibits did not show that the polkcieere in effect during the treatment periods,
Humana attached copies of thaicies. (Rec. Doc. 210 at 5).

Plaintiffs filed a sur-reply andssert that they voluntary agreto stay the litigation in
October 2011 to pursue a glolesolution arising out of Huma’s conduct, including those
claims already filed and those claims that hatlyet been filed. (Rec. Doc. 231 at 1-2).
Accordingly, Plaintiffs contend #t the stay applied to those claims that they had not yet been
formally added to this litigation. (Rec. D@31 at 2). Plaintiffs also dispute Humana'’s

allegation that Plaintiffs conceddaiat they asserted the claiaf$er the contractual time period,
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as the stay served to toll or suspend the contahtime period. (Rec. Do@231 at 2). Plaintiffs
contend that “contrary tbefendants’ assertion, tlieimeshoffCourt never limited the
application of the equitableteppel doctrine in ERISA casesdduations only involving the
plan administrator’s dilatoryomduct during the internal reviewqumess.” (Rec. Doc. 231 at 3).
Rather, the stay “constitutesetlype of extraordinary circustances and conduct that warrant
application of equitable estoppeldefeat their contractual litations defense.” (Rec. Doc. 231
at 4).
2. Law and Analysis

The parties concede that thentractual statute of limitationgquires the beneficiaries to
file their suit within one (1year and 180 (days) or 545 daysirthe date Humana made a final
determination of a timely filed appeal; howewde issue here is whether this Court’s stay
served to toll that period. ‘t#sent a controlling statute to thentrary, a participant and a plan
may agree by contract to a pauter limitations period, even oneaihstarts to run before the
action accrues, as long as the period is reasonaHkrheshoff134 S.Ct. at 610. The parties
do not dispute that the 545 day contuattime-limitation was reasonable. Heimeshoffthe
Supreme Court stated that “[t]o the extentgheicipant has diligently pursued both internal
review and judicial review bwas prevented from filing suty extraordinary circumstances,
equitable tolling may apply.ld. at 615. The Court does natdi that this language limits
equitable tolling to those iremces where the plan administrés specious conduct during the
internal review process caused delay. Ratiher Court can exercise its equitable powers
whenever such exceptional circumstanceatiwugh the Court regnizes that it should
“sparingly” extend such reliefirwin v. Dep’t of Veteran Affairs498 U.S. 89, 95 (1990).

“Generally, a litigant seeking equitable tolling keetre burden of esthéhing two elements: (1)
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that he has been pursuing his rights diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstance
stood in his way.”Pace v. DiGuglielmp544 U.S. 408, 418 (2005).

On October 12, 2011, the parties asked the Court to stay the proceedings so they could
seek a global resolution ofdltase and avoid expending sigrafit resources on the discovery
that is required in a case lik@is. (Rec. Doc. 58 & 59). Bottarties sought the stay, and it was
intended to benefit both partiedlowing them to pursue a settlement without the expensive and
demanding costs of litigation. Almost two ysédater, on September B)13, the Court lifted the
stay in response to Plaintiffs’ motion. Theaet§ demonstrate that tRéaintiffs, on behalf of
the five patients, diligently pursudige rights of the five patients, as Plaintiffs filed suit and then
engaged in settlement negotiatidhat would have encompassédde five patients’ claims.

The Court also finds that thegacts present the “extraondiry circumstance” necessary
to apply equitable tolling. The Plaintiffs sugped all litigation while thy pursued a settlement
with Humana, and as this suspension was intktal®enefit both partiegt, would be unjust if
the five patients’ statute of limitations tolledile they were unable to file an amended
complaint and join the suit. While Humana isregt that these five fiants could have brought
their own suits and were not individually subjecte the stay, the stappught a global resolution
that would have applied to their claims, so it vebloaive been senseless flmose five patients to
have filed suit during that time. Moreoverchufilings would haveindermined the purpose of
the stay, which was not intended to spawn sepéarsteelated suits, buather was intended to
foster an environment where the parties coudhea settlement. The Court thus finds that it
would be inequitable to dismiss these eight (8) claintsveill deny summary judgment.

IT IS ORDERED that Humana’s Motion for Partiummary Judgment for Dismissal

of ERISA Claims Time Barred by Contractl#mitations Period (Rec. Doc. 167)BENIED.
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D. Humana’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Based on Improper
Defendant (Rec. Doc. 168)

1. Parties’ Arguments

Humana seeks summary judgment on four patients’ claims, arguing that the final
discretionary authority associated with thoseguasi’ plans is vested in the Plan Administrator
and/or Plan Sponsor, so Plaifst cannot bring suit against Humana because Humana merely
serves as the third party administrator. (R@mc. 168-2 at 1). Hunma contends that under
Fifth Circuit precedent ihifecare Management ServicelC v. Insurance Management
Services LLC"a party may only be held liable for pagnts of claims ift exercises ‘actual
control’ over the benefits or claims proc&sgRec. Doc. 168-12 at 4) (quoting 703 F.3d 835,
845 (5th Cir. 2013). These four patients, Hamargues, had plans which provided for the
employer to have final discretionary authority,Hsamana is not the proper defendant. (Rec.
Doc. 168-12 at 6-11).

Plaintiffs oppose the motion and argue tHatnana misconstrues the Fifth Circuit’s
holding inLifecare Plaintiffs maintain that the FiftCircuit ultimately found the third party
administrator liable iLifecarg holding that a third party adminiator could be held liable when
the third party administrator exased more control than what the documents provided. (Rec.
Doc. 203 at 3). Plaintiffs contertkde same is true for these fquatients and that there remains a
question of fact as to the leva control Humana exerted over these four plans. (Rec. Doc. 203
at 3). Plainitffs thus conclude that thesaimls are not ripe for summary judgment because “as
in theLifecarecase, the facts eslah that the level of Defenddstinvolvement in the claims

process is significant and controlling.” (Rec. Doc. 203 at 10).
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Humana replies with leave of Court atwhtests Plaintiffeharacterization dfifecare
arguing that whether a party egmes actual control of plan @thistration is not a factual
inquiry and that the Court’s analysis is limitediie plan documents. (Rec. Doc. 215 at 1-2).
Plaintiffs filed a sur-reply anceassert their disagreement with Humana'’s interpretation of
Lifecare Plaintiffs contend that “[He Fifth Circuit ruled that th#hird-party administrator could
be held liable for nonpayment of the claim, despiintract language thstiated the third-party
administrator did not have final aatfity.” (Rec. Doc. 220 at 3).

2. Law and Analysis

Humana argues that summamglgment is appropriate forgke four patients’ claims
because Humana is not the proper defendamtuasana merely served as the third party
administrator, and the plan documents did net ¥eumana with actual control over the claims
processes. A third party administrator “may bl lhi@ble only if it exercises ‘actual control’
over the benefits claims procesd.ifecare Management Services LLID3 F.3d at 844. “The
proper party defendant in an action concerRISA benefits is the party that controls
administration of the plan and that if an ent@typerson other than timamed administrator takes
on the responsibilities of the administrator, that entity may also be liable for benkfitat’845
(quotingGomez-Gonzalez v. Rural Opportunities, |18626 F.3d 654, 665 (1st Cir. 2010))
(internal quotations omitted). “Where a [thperty administrator] exercises control over a
plan’s benefits claims processd exerts that control to deayclaim by incorrectly interpreting
a plan in a way that amownto an abuse of discrefi, liability may attach.”ld.

In Lifecare the Fifth Circuit relied on this fragmvork to analyze whether a third party
administrator exercised actual control over thenadgprocess. The Fifth Circuit proceeded with

this analysis by looking to the plan documents,thatFifth Circuit alsdighlighted facts outside
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of the record. Specifically, the Fifth Cir¢e@mphasized the fact that the third party
administrator had admitted it did not refeutiaoe claims to the plan administratdd. The Fifth
Circuit also stressed that the third party adstrator was tasked with determining whether
claims were considered “routine” and with inteting the plan’s terms to administer claind.
Based on these facts, the Fifth Circuit helak tthe third party administrator was a proper
defendant and distinguished the facts from “ehcases in which administrators were found not
liable for performing only non-dcretionary functions.’ld. In its holding, the Fifth Circuit
noted that the case would have been diffeifeahe plans had not afforded the third party
administrator the power to deny claims it deemgadine; if the third pay administrator would
have had to refer all disputed claims to the pldministrator; or if th@dministrative record had
included evidence that the third party admuaiir had to apply the plan administrator’'s
interpretation of plan termdd. at 846. With this context, ti@ourt now turns to the language
of each patient’s plan.
a. R.P. Bryan
Patient R.P. Bryan was a member of a self-fdrglan, hereto referred to as “the Plan,”

sponsored by her employer, North Oaks Health System, and Humana served as the Plan’s third
party administrator. Under the Plan, Northk®&lealth System is defined as the “Plan
Administrator.” (Rec. Doc. 168-8 at 5). ThaPRl‘'uses a two- levelppeals process for all
adverse determinations.” (Rec.®d68-6 at 36). Under the Plan,

Humana will make the determination on the first level of appeal.

If the claimantis dissatisfied with the decision on the first level of

appeal, or if Humana fails to make a decision within the time

frame indicated below, th@daimantmay appeal to thElan

Administrator A first and second level appeal must be made by

a claimant by means of written application, in person or by
mail (postage prepaid) addressed to:
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Humana Grievance and Appeals
P.O. Box 14546
Lexington,KY 40512-4546

(Rec. Doc. 168-6 at 36). Under the Sewctentitled “Exhaustion,” the Plan states:

Upon completion of the appealsocess under this section, a
claimant will have exhaustedshor her administrative remedies
under this Plan If Humana fails to complete a claim

determination or appeal within the time limits set forth above

the claimant may treat the claim or appeal as having been denied,
and the claimant may proceedtie next level in the review
process.

(Rec. Doc. 168-6 at 38). The “Plan Managatmggreement for Administrative Services
between Humana Insurance Company and NOo#ks Health System” (“Plan Management
Agreement”) identifies Humana as the “Plan Mgerd and North Oaks Health System as the
“Client” and “Plan Administrator.” (Rec. Doc. 169-9 at 1-2). The REmagement Agreement
provides:

2.2 The Plan Manager does novéaliscretionary authority or
responsibility in the administratiasf the Plan. The Plan Manager
will not exercise discretionary thority or control respecting the
disposition or managemeat assets of the plan.

2.3 The Plan Administrator and ribe Plan Manager is ultimately
responsible for interpreting thpeovisions of the Plan and
determining questions of eligibility for Plan Participation.

5.1 The Client hereby delegateshe Plan Manager Authority to
make determinations on behalf of the Client or the Plan
Administrator with respect to hefit payments under the Plan and
pay such benefits, as spid in this Article V.

5.6 However, if the Plan Administrator makes a determination to
approve or deny a claim whichdgferent than the determination
made by the Plan Manager, the Plan Manager will timely issue an
approval or denial of the clairprovided the Plan Administrator’s
decision is first communicated toe Plan Manager in writing.

5.8 Appeals of denied claims shiadl processed in accordance with
the applicable provisions oféiPlan. The Client acknowledges
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that the Plan Administrator sthalave the ultimate responsibility
and authority to make final determinations with respect to claims
and is responsible for providing Participants with a written
explanation of that decision.

(Rec. Doc. 168-9 at 5).

Based on the Plan’s language, the Court fendssputed material fact as to whether
Humana exercised “actual contraier the claims administratioWVhile the Plan initially states
that Humana will resolve the initial appeal ahd Plan Administrator will determine the second
appeal, the Plan then instts the claimant to sertbthappeals to Humana. It is unclear what
part, if any, Humana plays in the determinatdhe second appeal or whether Humana merely
serves as the receiving point for all appeaid forwards the second appeals to the Plan
Administrator. Further, when the Plan delses appeals exhaustionetplan only references
determinations rendered by Humana; the Blags not mention any action undertaken by the
Plan Administrator.

The Court finds that these disputed facts artera. If Humana handles both levels of
appeals or selectively decidesiaihappeals go to the Plan Adwstrator, this exercise of
discretion would signify actual control, arllimana would be a proper defendant under
Lifecare On the other hand, if Humana merely fordgall appeals to thelan Administrator,
Humana would exercise no discretion, and ttaanPldministrator would signify the ultimate
authority over claims determinations. These facts would render Humana an improper defendant

underLifecare Accordingly, the Plan’s conflicting languageeates a disputed material fact and

prevents the granting of summaugigment at this time.
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b. L. O’'Brien
Plaintiffs assert two claimsn behalf of patient L. O’Brien, and Humana avers that the

Court should grant summary judgment on thoaénd because Ms. O’Brien’s plan designated
Sensient Group, and not Humana, as the ao#lority on claims adinistration. Humana
served as the third party administrator. Kd8rien’s plan contains a two-tiered appeals
process:

The first appeal will be determinday Humana. If the claimant is

dissatisfied with the dision on the first leMeof appeal, or if

Humana fails to make a decisionthin the time frame indicated

below, the claimant may appeal to the Sensient Technologies

Administrative Committee.

e A first level appeal must be made by a claimant by means
of written application, in peos, or by mail addressed to:

Humana —-G&A
P.O. Box 14618
Lexington, KY 40512-4618
e A second level appeal must be made by a claimant by
means of written applicam, in person, or by malil
addressed to:
Sensient Benefits Administrative Committee
777 East Wisconsin Avenue,"1 Eloor
Milwaukee, WI 53202-5304
(Rec. Doc. 168-12 at 37-38). The Plan goes @t that “[i]if Humaa or the [Sensient]
Benefits Administrative Committee fails to completelaim determination or appeal within the
time limits set forth above, the claimant magetrthe appeal as having been denied, and the
claimant may proceed to the next level of theew process.” (Rec. Doc. 168-12 at 42). The
“Plan Management Agreement for Adminisiva Services between Humana Insurance

Company and Humana Dental Insurance Comaanad Sensient Technologies Corporation”

contains identical language as the “Plan Management Agreement for Administrative Services
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between Humana Insurance Company and Noris Giealth System,” as described under the
R.P. Bryan Plan above. (Rec. Doc. 168-13 at 2-6).

This Plan’s language contaiascrucial distinton from that of R.P. Bryan, as the
claimant maintains the discretion to sdmt appeal to the Plan Administratordthe provided
address belongs to the Plan Administratot, Humana. The exhaimn procedures also
explicitly reference Sensient. &Court thus does not find the same disputed material facts, as
there is no question of whether Humana clkeeaghich appeals to forward to the Plan
Administrator. These facts are aldistinguishable from the situation linfecare where the
Fifth Circuit stressed that it \8aat the third party administraie discretion to determine which
claims would be submitted for another appdéére, the discretion to appeal lies with the
claimant, and the Plan instructs the claimargeind the second appeal directly to the Plan
administrator, so the ultimate decision is vestetthe Plan Administrator. This situation is
rather akin to those scenarios the Fifth Cirde$cribed when a third party administrator would
not be liable, such as when a third party admirtstnaefers all disputed claims to the third party
administrator.See Lifecare Management Services LZQ3 F.3d at 845-56 (“Had IMA referred
all disputed claims to BRI and Carter fosoéution it would not now be liable for having
exercised discretionary authority?).. Since Humana cannot exercise its discretion to determine
which appeals go to the Plan Administrator f@eaond appeal, Humana does not exercise actual
control over the claims process. Furthee, sigreement between Humana and Sensient Group
reinforces this conclusion, #se language vests the ultireatiscretion in Sensient.

Plaintiffs maintain that the Court can lob&yond the Plan to determine whether Humana
exercised more control than what is outlimethe Plan documents, but Plaintiffs provite

facts to show that Humana exercised any cobigbnd that assigned in the Plan. Courts grant
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summary judgment only when theoving party “shows that therem® genuine dispute as to any
material fact” and “is entitled tudgment as a matter of lawPed. R. Civ. P. 56. If the moving
party carries this burden, “[tjhe burden theiftshio the nonmovant” tshow that there is a
genuine issue ahaterial fact.Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Louck42 F. 3d 641 1994 WL 708633,
at *2 (5th Cir. 1994) (quotinlyleyers v. M/V Eugenio,®19 F.2d 1070, 1072 (5th Cir.1990)). If
and when the burden shifts to the nonmovant, “Rule 56(c) mandat®smmary judgment . . .
against a party who fails to make a showing sigfit to establish the estence of an element
essential to that party’s casad on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). The nonmoving party “must do more than
simply show that there is some metapbgisdoubt as to the material factdViatsushita Elec.
Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radj@75 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). “[T]heieno issue for trial unless
there issufficient evidenctavoring the nonmoving party for a jury to return a verdict for that
party. . . . If the evidence is merely colorable or is not significatty probative . . . summary
judgment may be grantedAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In@77 U.S. 242, 249-50 (1986)
(emphasis added). Thus, while the Court agrees thatfdwre Court looked beyond the
record in its analysilaintiffs fail to supplyanyfacts or records for 8hCourt to incorporate
into its analysis. Plaintiffs’ conclusory alldgms, without more, areot sufficient to overcome
summary judgment. The Court thus finds iaropriate to grant summary judgment on the
claims asserted by L. O'Brien.
C. K. Stafford and J. Sheehan

Plaintiffs assert two claims drehalf of patient K. Staffordnd one claim on behalf of J.

Sheehan, and Humana avers that the Chorld grant summary judgment on these claims

because those patients’ employers maintainadbcontrol over claims administration while
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Humana only served as the third party admiatet. Because the patients’ plan documents
contain identical language akllimana did not supply any agment between the employers
and Humana, the Court will dispose of these argusat the same time. Both of the relevant
Plans “use][] a two- level appeals process foadllerse determinations.” (Rec. Doc. 168-16 at
8). According to the language used in both Plans,
Humana will make the determination on the first level of appeal.
If the claimantis dissatisfied with the decision on the first level of
appeal, or if Humana fails to make a decision within the time
frame indicated below, thelaimant may appeal to thePlan
Administrator A first and second level appeal must be made by a
claimant by means of written applidan, in person or by mail
(postage prepaid) addressed to:
Humana Grievance and Appeals
P.O. Box 14546
Lexington,KY 40512-4546
(Rec. Doc. 168-16 at 8; Rec. Doc. 168&2@.7.). Under the Section entitled
“Exhaustion,” the Plans state:
Upon completion of the appealsocess under this section, a
claimant will have exhausted hg her administrative remedies
under this Plan. If Humana fails to complete a claim determination
or appeal within the time limits set forth above, the claimant may
treat the claim or appeal as having been denied, and the claimant
may proceed to the next level in the review process.
(Rec. Doc. 168-16 at 10; Rec. Doc. 168-20 at 20).
This language mirrors the language containgtie Plan documents of R.P. Bryan, and
the Court has already conded that this language creates a disppumaterial fact as to the level
of actual control Humana exercised over thenegaadministration. Acedingly, the Court finds

summary judgment is not appropriate for themkaof K. Stafford or for the claims of J.

Sheehan.
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IT IS ORDERED that Humana'’s Motion for PartiSummary Judgment Based on
Improper Defendant IGRANTED IN PART andDENIED IN PART . ItisGRANTED as to
the claims of L. O’'Brien. It iIDENIED as to the claims of R.P. Bryan, K. Stafford, and J.
Sheehan.

E. Humana’'s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to Plaintiffs’ ERISA
502(c) Claims (Rec. Doc. 170)

1. Parties’ Arguments

Humana seeks summary judgment on Plaint#sU.S.C. § 1132(c), or Section 502(c),
claims. In support of its motion, Humana amds that Section 1132(c) is narrow and only
permits recovery when a plan participant sitbra clear request for plan documents and the
administrator fails to comply(Rec. Doc. 170-2 at 4) (citingy/ilczynski v. Lumbermens Mutual
Casualty Cq.93 F.3d 397 (7th Cir. 1996)). Humangues that Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint
describes requests for documents that fall outbidenarrow scope of plan documents, and fails
to identify a specific insince of an alleged written reque@Rec. Doc. 170-2t 5). Humana
also avers that Section 502(c) yapplies to the plan administratthus barring Plaintiffs from
filing claims on behalf of the four patientdiase plan documents identilumana as the third
party administrator. (Rec. Doc. 170-5 at 7-Bjnally, Humana claims that the Louisiana statute
of limitations of one-year for delictual actions apply to the instant case, as the allegations arise
from a breach of statutory duty and not from a @mwitial breach. (Rec. Doc. 170-2 at 9). Since
Plaintiffs’ claims date back to 2006 and they have amended their complaint twice, Humana
argues that the onus is on Plaintiffs to destrate their complianaeith the statute of
limitations. (Rec. Doc. 170-2 at 10).

Plaintiffs oppose the motion. In response tartdna’s contention th&tlaintiffs failed to

identify written requests for plan documents, Rtiffis attach 121 pages of Appeal Letters that
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they had previously turned over to Humanamydiscovery. (Rec. Doc. 202 at 2-3). These
letters, Plaintiffs contend, satisfy the regments of 29 U.S.C. 1132(c) and render summary
judgment inappropriate. (Rec. Doc. 202 atBlaintiffs dispute Humaa’'s averment that it
cannot be held liable since it did not serve amiattrator for those foupatients, arguing that
the Fifth Circuit instructed ihifecarethat a third party administratcan be held liable when it
exercises actual control. (Rec. Doc. 202 8) 4eiting 703 F.3d 835 (5th Cir. 2013)). The plan
documents, Plaintiffs contend, denstrate that Humana has presédntself as the authority that
controls claim administratiomd is therefore liable under Sexti502(c). Plaintiffs dispute
Humana’s assertion that these claims are sutgexone-year prescripti period, arguing that
the claims are governed by Louisiana Civil Cédgcle 3499, which provides for a ten-year
prescriptive period. (Re®oc. 202 at 9) (citingrerrell v. The Estate of Donovar72 So. 2d
260, 262 (La App. 5 Cir. 2000)).

Humana replies with leave of Court. Humana argued. tfestaredoes not apply to
Section 502(c) claims, as Section 502(c) spexihat a plan administrator is the proper
defendant. (Rec. Doc. 226 at 2). Since thosegatients’ plans desigratHumana as the Plan
Manager, and not the Plan Administrator, Humelaaéms it is not a proper defendant for Section
502(c) claims. Looking to the Appeal Letters, Hmaargues that the Appeal Letters “show that
no clear request for documents was everaghldcause the request was conditioned on an
adverse appeal decision. (Rec. Doc. 226 &ibally, Humana reasserts its position that these
claims signify delictual claimand are therefore subject tetbne-year prescriptive period.
(Rec. Doc. 266 at 7) (citinQoucet v. Turner Industries, LL.Glo. 13-115, 2013 WL 3059761,

*2 (W.D. la. June 14, 2013)).
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Plaintiffs filed a sur-reply. Plairfts dispute Humana'’s characterizationFigherand
note that the plans delegate a wide rangesifarsibility to Humana. (Rec. Doc. 229 at 2).
Plaintiffs argue that the Agal Letters provided clear na¢i¢co Humana of their document
requests and cite the Sixth Circuit c&sdtrona v. Nationwide Life Insurance @s.support for
this proposition. (Rec. Doc. 229 at 3) (citing8/.3d 698 (6th Cir. 2014)). Plaintiffs re-aver
their position that these clainase subject to the ten-year peaption period. (Rec. Doc. 229 at
4).

2. Law and Analysis

Humana asserts three arguments as supgaits Motion for Summary Judgment on
Plaintiffs ERISA Section 502(c) claims: (1) Plaffdifail to demonstrate #t they provided clear
written notice of their requestifplan documents; (2) the clairfal under a one-year statute of
limitations period and are thereéoprescribed; and (3) Humananist the Plan Administrator
under four patients’ plans and is therefore not a proper defendant for those patients’ 502(c)
claims. The Court will addss each argument in turn.

a. Clear Notice of Request for Plan Documents

Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4), an ER[®an administrator, “shall, upon written
request of any participant or beneficiary, isma copy of the latest updated summary plan
description...or other instruments under whichple is established aperated.” Section
1022(a) instructs that “[a] sumary plan description of any giioyee benefit plan shall be
furnished to participants andrficiaries as provided in de&mn 1024(b) of this title.” Any
administrator who fails or refuses to complith such a request may, within the court’s
discretion, be held personally liable to the esting party up to $100 for each day after the date

of refusal. 29 U.S.C. 1132(cee Fisher v. Metropolitan Life Ins. C895 F.2d 1073, 10775
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Cir. 1990). The Fifth Circuit hasstructed that “as a penalpyovision section 1132(c) must be
strictly construed.”Fisher, 895 F.2d at 1077.

Plaintiffs seek damages under section 113f(c)he alleged failure of Humana to
comply with requests for documents. Counwoif\Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint outlines these
allegations. Specifically, Plaintiffs aver that tHegquested copies dlie actual Plan documents
relative to the subscriber, the appeals poliaies procedures used by Humana, the documents
relied upon in establishing the appropriateness of the denial of benefits, and the applicable price
for a participating provider who bills for the se®s rendered. However, such requests have
been ignored by Humana, who refuses to produce the plan documents and other documents
requested by Plaintiffs.” (Rec. Doc. 46 at 1P)Jaintiffs further allge that “Humana breached
its duty to provide accurate Summary Plan Dipsions to the subscribers under 29 U.S.C. §
1022.” (Rec. Doc. 46 at 17).

Plaintiffs attach Appeal Lteers to their Opposition &t they sent to HumarfaThese
Appeal Letters only pertain to seventeen (17)gmasi, so it is unclear if these are the only
patients for whom the Plaintiffs assert claimsem8ection 1132(c). The Appeal Letters contain
two textual variations toequest policy documents. Thestigrouping includeseven (7) letters
written on behalf of M. Barringer , S. Barrsgtéind J. Bosch, and those letters state:

If your decision in this apm is adverse to my clienfou are
requested to produce the policpdmage, which you allege support
your underpayment and any documents that you used to support
your pricing of this matter.Specifically, please produce the
Insured’s complete insurance policy relative to this claim, the

appeals policies and procedureguieed by the policy, documents
relied upon in establishing the @&, copies of any review notes

® Humana takes issue with these letters, arguing that Plaintiffs failed to properly authenticate them. But
these letters constitute correspondence sent by Pldintffasel, and there is therefore no dispute over their
admissibility at trial. SeeFed. R. Civ. Proc. 56(c).

* The two letters written on behalf of Ms. Barrsotti irde slightly different language and state “[w]e are
requesting as part of this appeal information regarding your denial of the appeal.”
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that were prepared in procesgiboth the initial appeal and the

initial underpayment, the name of the specialty of any healthcare

provider who reviewed this mattethe applicable price by CPT

code for a participant provideand all plan documents.
(Rec. Doc. 204-2 at 2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 16; Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 20).
The second grouping includegenty-six (26) lettes on behalf of fourtee(14) patients and
states: “If your decision in this appeal is adeeis my client, we request that you provide us
with the following listed information and doments....” (Rec. Doc. 204-2 at 19, 23, 29, 33, 38,
43, 49, 53, 58, 63, 68, 73, 83, 87, 92, 97, 102, 108, 113, 118; Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 2, 25, 37, 47,
53, 59, 67.) These Appeal Letters then enaeeiwenty-seven (27) types of requested
documents.

To properly request documents pursuaréation 1132(c), the request for plan
documents must be written and must proviligr notice of the documents it seekge Fisher
895 F.2d at 107Kollman v. Hewitt Associates, L|.@87 F.3d 138, 146 (3d Cir. 2007);
Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Cp91 F.3d 648, 655 (4th Cir. 1996). “[T]he touchstone is whether
the request provides the necessdear notice to a reasonalplan administrator which, given
the context of the requesthould be provided.Kollman, 487 F.3d at 146See also Fishe895
F.2d at 1077 (“Nothing in either the requestla response indicatesattMetropolitan knew or
should have known that Fisher had requeatedpy of any document relating to the Litton
Plan.”).

Humana argues that the conditibrequests in the Appeal Lettedid not constitute clear
notice. The Court disagrees. The Appeal Lettdgarly indicate thahe administrator should
provide the specified documents if the admintstraltimately denies the appeal; the conditional

request does not render thisuest ambiguous. Rather, a i@@able administrator would know

that upon denying an appeal, t@ministrator should providedrenumerated documents based
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on the request in the letters. The Court timgs that these letters satisfy the clear notice
requirement.

The Court recognizes that thepeal Letters, attached as tl@oge exhibits to Plaintiffs’
opposition with no organization ahy kind, only constitute cleaotice of document requests
for seventeen (17) out of the fifty-four (54) patefor whom Plaintiffs present claims. It is not
evident whether Plaintiffs wish to maintain th8ection 1132(c) claimsn behalf of the other
patients, or whether Plaintiftnly assert those claims on b#ld those patients for whom
Plaintiffs have provided letter®laintiffs shall therefore (1) wte to the Court and clarify which
of the 54 Patients on behalf of whom Plaintdfsert Section 1132(c) atas, and (2) provide the
supporting documentation for each of those patierear notices of document requests within
fifteen (15) days of this Ord& Reasons. If Plaintiffs fail to satisfy both steps for those
remaining patients, the Court will grant sumgynprdgment to Humana on Plaintiffs’ Section
1132(c) claims for those patients.

b. Statute of Limitations

Humana next argues that Piaifs’ Section 1132(c) claimare prescribed because they
are subject to a one-year statute of limitatioBRISA does not explicitlprovide a statute of
limitations period for actions under § 1132(¢&)atteberg v. Red Adair Co., Inc. Employees’
Profit Sharing Plan and its Related Trugg Fed. Appx. 709, 715 (5th Cir.2003). Because there
is no Fifth Circuit authority on the issue, theutt must look to analogous state law to determine
the relevant limitations period. SkteClure v. Zoecon, Inc936 F.2d 777, 778 (5th Cir.|991).
Here, the Court must determine whether the claioontractual in nature, and thus governed by
the prescriptive period of ten years for pers@wdions pursuant to Article 3499, or delictual in

nature, and thus governed by a one yeascription pursuant to Article 3492mes v. Ohle97
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S0.3d 386, 393 (La. App. 4 Cir. 2012Z)inity Universal Ins. Co. v. Hortor¥,56 So.2d 637, 638
(La. App. 2 Cir. 2000).

Here, Plaintiffs’ claims seek damages un8ection 1132(c), whitprovides statutory
damages up to $100 for each day of an administrator's noncompliancepdn ex rel.
Gutierrez v. Premium Auto Acceptance Cptpe Fifth Circuit applie@exas’ two-year statute
of limitations for tort actions, rather than Tekfour-year statute of limitations for contract
actions, when the plaintiff sought statytalamages under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c) for the
defendant’s alleged failure to notify under@%.C. § 1166. 389 F.3d 504, 510 (5th Cir. 2004).
In its reasoning, the Fifth Cirdunoted that “[w]hile the plai language of section 1166 itself
offers little insight into how the provision shdube characterized for statute of limitations
purposes, the damages remedy [Section 1132(c)] déetsat 509. The Fifth Circuit went on to
distinguish claims for statutory damages undeitiSe 1132(c) from those claims that seek to
recover plan benefits under BRS.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B), stressing that Section 1132(c) “does not
refer to any underlying employee benefit pland the formula for statutory damages cannot
plausibly be characterized as an effort to eedrthe breach of any contractual obligation created
by an employee benefit planld. The court therefore applied Xa&s’s two-year statute of
limitation that is found in Texas’s unfair insa@ practices section of the Texas Insurance
Code.

Although Plaintiffs’ claims in the inaht case arise under Sections 1024 and 1022, and
not Section 1166, the Fif@ircuit’s reasoning it.opezis applicable because the damages
remedy is the same. Asliopez Plaintiffs seek statutory deges under Section 1132(c) and do
not seek damages that arise underténefit plans. Accordingly,ithCourt finds that the claims

do not arise under the contraatsd are therefore not subj¢ctthe contractual ten-year
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prescriptive period. Rather.dlone-year deltoal prescriptive peod is the proper limitation
period under Louisiana Law.

Based on the materials before the Court, it is uncertain which claims are prescribed
because it is not clear when the limitations geéstarted for each patient. It is therefore
necessary for the Plaintiffs to supplementrtisgerials and specify, based on the supplemented
materials or other evidence in the ratorhen the prescriptive period begandachpatient’s
Section 1132(c) claim(s). Humana will thervlaaan opportunity to respond. Plaintiffs shall
provide this material on or bwe fifteen (15) days from entry of this Order & Reasons.

C. The Proper Administrator

Humana contends that Plaffg cannot bring Section 1132(claims against Humana on
behalf of four patients, R.Bryan, L. O'Brien, K. Stafford, @d J. Sheehan, because Humana did
not serve as the Plan Administrator under those patients’ petdion 1132(c) provides that a
court may use its discretion to hold aaministratorliable for statutory penalties of up to $100
per day. 29 U.S.C. 1132(c)(1). Unlike Sectidr32(a)(1)(b), which doeasot limit the scope of
defendants, Section 1132(c) spedfibat only an “administratocan be held liable. The term
“administrator” is defined as “the persoresfically so designated by the terms of the
instrument under which the plan is ogied.” 29 U.S.C. § 1002(16)(A)(i).

In Fisher, the Fifth Circuit suggestdd dicta that an ertii other than the named
administrator may be held liable under Secti@82(c) as a de facedministrator where the
plan delegates the administnasoduties to that entityFisher v. Metro. Life Ins. Cp895 F.2d
1073, 1077 (5th Cir. 1990). Moreover, the Fifth Githas affirmed a district court’s decision
that adopted the de facto administrator doctrinewrence v. Jackson Mack Sal887 F. Supp.

771, 790 (S.D.Miss.19923ff'd, 42 F.3d 642 (5th Cir.1994). Anothdistrict court within the
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Fifth Circuit applied the deattto administrator dogtre after finding it was supported by “the
weight of authority.” Brown v. Aetna Life Ins. Co®75 F. Supp. 2d 610, 618 (W.D. Tex. 2013).
Outside of the Fifth Circuit, there is a circuit $gis to whether an entity can be held liable as a
de facto administrator under ERISA prowiss other than Sgon 1132(a)(1)(b).See, e.g.,

Rosen v. TRW, In©/9 F.2d 191, 193-94 (11th Cir.1992) (“[Wjeld that if a company is
administrating the plan, then it can be HedBle for ERISA violations, regardless of the
provisions of the plan document.Daw v. Ernst & Young956 F.2d 364, 372—73 (1st Cir.1992).
But see, e.g., McKinsey v. Sentry 1886 F.2d 401, 404-05 (10th Cir.1993) (rejecting argument
that entity can be diecto administrator)gf. Moran v. Aetna Life Ins. Cd872 F.2d 296, 300

(9th Cir.1989) (expressing reluctance to holdtest other than the naed plan administrator
liable for statutory violations).

While Section 1132(a)(1)(B) is distinguishalirom Section 1132(c) because Section
1132(a)(1)(B) does not purport to linthe scope of defendants, thith Circuit’s analysis in
Lifecareis instructive. IrLifecare,the Fifth Circuit held that a it party administrator is not
insulated from Section 1132(a)(B) liability and that third pay administrator liability is
contingent on whether the thiparty exercised “actual contrafver the claims administration.
Id. at 844. To determine whether a third partynadstrator effectuated “actual control” over
claims administration, the Fifth Circuit directed didtcourts to engage ia functional analysis.
703 F.3d at 844-45. The Fifth Circuit explainedr@&sonale, emphasizing that “the proper party
defendant in an action concerniBRISA benefits is the party thabntrols administration of the
plan.” Id. at 845. The same is true here. A third ypadministrator, who exercises control over
the plan documents and administers the claimnegss, should not be immune from liability

under Section 1132(c) merely because the plan miatggentify the third party administrator
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under the title of “Plan Administtar.” If Humana maintained control over the plan documents,
Plaintiffs should have recoursgainst Humana under Section 1132(c) even though Humana did
not formally serve as the “Plan Administratorlhdeed, it would be an abrd result if the Court
found Humana liable under Sext 1132(a)(1)(B) based on adiing that Humana exercised
actual control over the plan, buloaved Humana to maintain immiiy from claims that it failed

to timely respond to plan document requests uéetion 1132(c). Along similar lines, the
Court can imagine a situation where a plan delsgateauthority to a thd party administrator,

and the Plan Administrator does not even haaely access to plan documents. If the Court
could not apply the de facto adnstrator doctrine in such a sdttion, a plaintiff would be left

with no remedy. This is surely not the outcoBmngress intended when it fashioned the Section
1132(c) remedy. The Court thus finds the logical and consisternet&tion of Section

1132(c) is that an entity can be liable if theityns a de facto administrator and exercises actual
control over the claims administration.

As such, the Court’s analysis for these fpatients is the same as that for Humana'’s
Motion for Summary Judgnm¢ on the Section 1132(a)(1)(B) claims for those four patients.
Incorporating this analysis, the Court will themef grant summary judgment as to the Section
502(c) claims of L. O’Brien and deny summaunggment as to the claims of R. P. Bryan, K.
Stafford, and J. Sheehan.

In sum, Humana'’s Motion for Partial Summarydgment as to Platiffs’ 502(c) Claims
(Rec. Doc. 170) iISRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART . The motion is
GRANTED as to the Section 502(c) afas of L. O’'Brien. It iSDENIED as to the Section
502(c) claims of R.P. Bryan, K. Stafford, ahdSheehan. The Couwvithholds ruling on the

Section 502(c) claims based on other patients Riatintiffs provide further information.
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Specifically, the Court orders Plaintiffs to (1) write to the Court and clarify which of the 54
Patients on behalf of whom Plaintiffs asseetction 1132(c) claims, and (2) provide the
supporting documentation for each of those patierear notices of document requests within
fifteen (15) days of this Ord& Reasons. If Plaintiffs fail to satisfy both steps for those
remaining patients, the Court will grant summpggment on Plaintiffs’ Section 1132(c) claims
for those patients in favor of lwana. Plaintiffs shall also supplement the materials before the
Court and specify, based on the supplemented rabsten other evidence in the record, when the
prescriptive period began feachpatient’s Section 1132(c) claim(siHumana will then have an
opportunity to respond. Plaintiffsalhprovide this material on doefore fifteen (15) days from
entry of this Order & Reasons.

F. Humana’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Based on Plaintiffs’ Failure
to Exhaust Administrative Remedies (Rec. Doc. 171)

1. Parties’ Arguments

Finally, Humana asks the Court to grantsoary judgment on Plaintiffs’ claims based
on those patients who failed to exhaust their adstretive remedies. Humana avers that “[i]t is
well-established that litigants pursuing ERISA wlaiare first required to exhaust all available
administrative remedies.” (Rec. Doc. 171-2 atdgre, Humana argues that three (3) patients
failed to file formal appeals, and eight (8) patserequested a reconsid@on of the payment but
did not style their inquiry as an appeal a@nd not include an assignment of rights from the
patient, as required by the patiémiens. (Rec. Doc. 171-2 &. Humana avers that those
patients who failed to include @ssignment of rights never filed a formal appeal, since the
Provider Correspondence Departmemtd not the Appeals and Graces Department, handled

such correspondence.
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Plaintiffs oppose the motion and argue tHatmana’s consistent denial of appeals
rendered the appeals process futile, and thus thegfaddile an appeal is not an impediment to
filing suit to recover benefits. @. Doc. 204 at 3). Plaintiffssa attach Appeal Letters, which
they argue highlight a disputed material fastto whether patients Kilallory, R. Bryan, R.
Bosch, L. Bishop, T. Wells, D. Grab, J. Williaoms and E. Kennedy filed second level appeals.
(Rec. Doc. 204 at 3).

Humana replies, arguing thBtaintiffs’ Appeal Letters are not competent summary
judgment evidence because they are not substahbgtdeclaration or affidavit. (Rec. Doc. 221
at 2). Humana further contends that the égdd_etters only allegegldemonstrate appeals on
behalf of four (4) paties. (Rec. Doc. 221 at 4). Humana agythet the letters failed to include
an assignment of rights for those patientsegsiired by the Planand therefore do not
constitute formal appeals. (Rec. Doc. 221 é).4Finally, Humana averthat Plaintiffs have
failed to make a showing of futility, a necesseguirement to overcome the administrative
exhaustion requirement. (Rec. Doc. 221 at 7).

Plaintiffs filed a sur-reply and contend thdimana’s declarations are not competent
evidence because they are not dated. (Rec. Doat2i32). Plaintiffs alsargue that there is a
disputed material fact as to whether the adstiative appeals were futile, so the Court should
deny summary judgment. (Rec. Doc. 235 at 3).

2. Law and Analysis

Humana argues that the Court should grantrsary judgment for Rintiffs’ failure to
exhaust administrative remedion the following claims:

K. Mallory, service providethy St. Charles on 10/12/2010;
K. Mallory, service providetby St. Charles on 4/19/2012;

T. Lymuel, service providkeby Center on 8/22/2008;

R.P. Bryan, service provided by St. Charles on 12/29/2011,
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P. Schembre, service provided by physi@asociated with the Center on 9/27/2013
J.R. Bosch, service provided by St. Charles on 5/19/2011;

L. Bishop, service provided by Center on 10/30/2012;

T. Wells, service provideldy Center on 8/26/2011,

K. Stafford, service provided by physiciaassociated with the Center f on 10/3/2009;
D. Grab, service provided by St. Charles on 6/14/2012;

J. Williamson, service provideby St. Charles on 9/13/2012;

E. Kennedy, service provided by St. Charles on 12/21/2011.

Humana argues that the Court should grant sumpodgment on those clais because (1) those
patients failed to exhaust their administrative remedies and Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate that
exhaustion was futile; and (2) Plaintiffs’ Appealtlezs do not correspond to all of the claims at
issue, and those that do, either named the wramgdar or failed to inalde an assignment of
rights from the patiert. The Court will address each argument.

a. Futility Exception

“[C]laimants seeking benefits from &RISA plan must first exhaust available
administrative remedies under the plan betaringing suit to recover benefitddcGowin v.
ManPower Int'l, Inc. 363 F.3d 556, 559 (5th Cir. 2004) {ieg Bourgeois v. Pension Plan for
Employees of Santa Fe Int'l Corp., 215 F.3d 475,(8#9Cir.2000)). The Fifth Circuit outlined
the purpose of the exhaustion requirement, notiagittserves to (1) uptw Congress’ desire
that ERISA trustees, and not federal courtgdsponsible for their actions; (2) provide a clear
administrative record in the case of future litigatiand (3) ensure thahy judicial review of
ERISA fiduciary action is madender the arbitrary and capriciost®ndard and not reviewee
nova Denton v. First Nat. Bank of Waco, Tex#5 F.2d 1295, 1300 {(5Cir. 1985). The Fifth
Circuit, however, recognizes amxception to the exhaustiomgrerement when such efforts

would be futile. See Hall v. National Gypsum Ca05 F.3d 225, 232 (5th Cir. 1997). A

® Humana takes issue with these letters, arguing that Plaintiffs failed to properly authenticate them. But
these letters constitute correspondence sent by Pldintfiasel, and there is therefore no dispute over their
admissibility at trial. SeeFed. R. Civ. Proc. 56(c).
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claimant can only demonstrate futility when the pdaiministrator is biased or hostile against the
claimant. Denton 765 F.2d at 1302See also McGowin v. ManPower Int'l, In863 F.3d 556,
559 (8" Cir. 2004) (“A failure to show hostility or &% on the part of the administrative review
committee is fatal to a claim of futility.”)See generally Bourgeois v. Pension Plan for the
Emples. of Santa Fe Int'l Corp215 F.3d 475, 479 (5th Cir.2000i}{eg also the stricter
standard requiring the claimantdbow a “ ‘certainty of an advexslecision’ ” to warrant futility
exception) (quotingCommunications Workers gaimerica v. AT & T40 F.3d 426, 433
(D.C.Cir.1994)). Explaining the high standard fiatility, the Fifth Cirauit noted that under a
lower standard for the exhaustiexception, “benefit disputesowid not only be more numerous
and more often frivolous, but less defined assailt of this evasioof the congressionally
mandated processDenton 765 F.2d at 1303. Further, the Riffircuit has held that when
faced with a group of plaintiffs, those plaintifid 1o did exhaust their administrative remedies
cannot serve as “blanket exhaustions” and futidl exhaustion requirement for other plaintiffs
in the group.Harris v. Trustmark Nat. BanR87 F. App’x 283, 295 (5th Cir. 2008).

Plaintiffs cite to the unsuccessful appealthaty other patients as evidence that the
administrative process was futile, but such evidence does not prove futility for the group as a
whole. The denial of appeals, without matees not demonstrate bias or hostility on Humana'’s
part. Further, Humana'’s disptien of other claims has no bé&ag on these particular patients’
appeals. If the Court were to waive the extiangequirement based ¢ime denial of other,
similarly situated plaintiffs, this would open the floodgates and allow plan beneficiaries to
circumvent the administrative process by pointingriother patient’s unsuessful appeal. Such
an outcome would undermine Congress’s intergmih fashioned the exhaustion requirement,

and the Court therefore refuses to apply the futility exception here.
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b. Individual Patients

Now that the Court has disposed of Ridis’ futility argument, the Court must
determine whether there is a disputed materclda to each patient’s exhaustion requirement.
As this is a fact-intensive analysis, fBeurt will examine each patient in turn.

e K. Mallory

Humana seeks summary judgment for claimssteng from services provided to patient,
K. Mallory, on October 10, 2010 and April 19, 20123ty Charles Hospital. Plaintiffs provided
two Appeal Letters sent on behalf of K. Mallobyt Humana contends thiiese letters are not
sufficient because those letters cite the Ceatad,not St. Charles, #ise provider. That
distinction is immaterial because the appeatk Bought administrative review of the patient’s
underlying procedure: one lettsought review of an adverslecision for the October 10, 2010
procedure (Rec. Doc. 204-3 at aipd the other letter sought rewi an adverse decision for the
April 19, 2012 procedure (Rec. Dd&204-2 at 81). As the purpe®f the exhaustion requirement
is to create an administrativecord and to ensure that fedigudges do not review benefits
decisiongde novgthat intent is served as long asriis an administrative review of the
underlying claim. It is of no consequence to wdrdity the patient assigns her claim, as long as
the underlying claim goes through the approprbeinistrative channelsrior to judicial
review.

If, however, both the Center for RestaratBreast Surgery, LLC and St. Charles
Hospital assert separate claims for the samacseprovided, only the provider who actually
delivered the medical care can seek compensa there will obviously be no award of double
damages. Moreover, if the Center and St. {ekgrovided different seices during the same

procedure, i.e. if the Plaintiffs seek compation on behalf of both providers for separate
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services during K. Mallory’s October 10, 2010 prdues, the parties shall communicate this to
the Court and a re-urggrof this motion may be appropriatéds this Court has indicated
throughout this Order & Reasonsettlisposition of these motions has been a challenge due to
the lack of clarity and precisionitl the presentation of Plaintiffslaims and the record before
the Court. Accordingly, if the Court has misstrued Plaintiffs’ claimsand Plaintiffs seek
benefits on behalf of the Center and St. G&safor different services rendered during K.
Mallory’s procedures, then thenias shall clarify this point.
e T.Lymuel
Humana argues that the Court should disittiesclaim for services rendered to Ms.
Lymuel by the Center on August 22, 2008 because Ms. Lymuel never appealed the
administrative denial of her benefits. Inpease, Plaintiffs includetwo letters written on
behalf of Ms. Lymuel. Tése letters, however, dispute overpayment claims asserted by
Humana, and do not qualify as Appeal Lettegsnce Plaintiffs have failed to providay
evidence of an appeal, the Court finds it is angputed material fact that Ms. Lymuel failed to
exhaust her administrative remedies, and the clagaeciated with this patient are dismissed
without prejudice.
e R.P.Bryan
Humana argues that the Court should gsamimary judgment on R.P. Bryan’s claim
because her Appeal Letter did motlude an assignment of rights from the patient. Ms. Bryan’s
plan includes a section entitled “Assignments and Representatives,” which states:
In addition, a covered persomay designate an authorized
representative to act on his ber behalf in pursuing a benefit
claim or appeal. The designation must be explicitly stated in
writing and it must authorize diesure of protected health

information with respect to the claim by this Plan, Humana and the
authorized representative to omaother. If a document is not
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sufficient to constitute a denation of an authorized
representative, as determined by Humana, then this Plan will not
consider a designation has been mada assignment of benefits
does not constitute designation of an authorized representative.

(Rec. Doc. 168-6 at 32). Latonia Gentry, a ©Oosdr Service Analyst with Humana, stated in
her Declaration that “No formal appeal was diled for the services relered by the Center to
[R.P. Bryan] on December 29, 2011.” (Rec. Doc. T#t-1). Humana argues that there was no
formal appeal because R.P. Bryan failed to inelad assignment of her rights. (Rec. Doc. 221
at 4). Plaintiffs, however, included an Appkatter written on behalbf R.P. Bryan for the
December 29, 2011 service and states:

| have also enclosed a copy af document that is entitled
“Assignment of Benefits and Authaation for the Hospital to Act

as your Authorized RepresentativeClaims for Benefits” that has
been signed by your insured. Thagal document specifically sets
forth your insured’s assignment alf applicable isurance benefits

for the professional services progit by the Hospital. Further in
said document, your insured also has expressly: 1) appointed the
Hospital and anyone acting on Haé¢f of the Hospital as the
insured’s true lawful attorney to act on the insured’s behalf to
collect benefits related to the services provided to the hospital; 2)
authorized the Hospital and anyaa&ting under authority from the
Hospital to provide medicalecords and medical information
compiled in the course of the insured’s treatment for review and/or
copying; 3) appointed the Hospital and anyone acting under its
authority to act as theuthorized representative as a claimant under
ERISA; and 4) assigned the rigtat file appeals on the insured’s
behalf.

(Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 35-36). This letter supports a finding that Plaintiffs submitted an assignment
of R.P. Bryan'’s rights ahconflicts with Ms. Gentry’s assertion. The Caius finds there is a
disputed material fact as to whether Plaintsfidomitted an assignment of R. P. Bryan's rights

and finds that summary judgmeninsppropriate at this time.
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e P.Schembré

Humana argues that the Court should disitiiesclaim for services rendered to P.
Schembre by physicians associated whth Center on September 27, 2013 because Ms.
Schembre never appealed the administrative dehlar benefits. Plaiits failed to include
any Appeal Letters sent on behalf of Msh&mbre or any evidence that Ms. Schembre
exhausted her administrative remedies. Accorgirte Court finds it an undisputed fact that
Ms. Schembre failed to exhaust her administearemedies and dismisses her claim without
prejudice.

e J.R.Bosch

Humana contends that J.R. Bosch failedxbaust her administrative benefits for her
service provided by St. Charles on May 19, 20Plaintiffs provided an Appeal Letter sent on
behalf of J. Bosch (Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 19), buindna argues that this letter does not qualify as
an Appeal Letter because counsel sent it on behéfie Center and not St. Charles. The Court
has already rejected this argument for the claiergaining to K. Mallory, so the Court will deny
summary judgment on J. Bosch’s claim. Thecussion pertaining tine Court’s potential
misinterpretation of the claims, as outlined ia #ection dedicated to K. Mallory, also applies
here.

e L. Bishop

Humana argues that L. Bishop failed idhaust her administrative remedies for her

service provided by the Centen October 30, 2012. Plaintiffs provided an Appeal Letter sent

® Although Humana noted in its Memorandum in Sappf its Motion for PartisSummary Judgment that
Plaintiffs submitted an appeal but no assignment of rights for Ms. Schembre, the Court was unable to find any letters
in the attached exhibits. This could be an error on thteopthe Court, but the disorganization of the letters — two-
hundred pages of letters lumped into two exhibits with no organization—renderdiduttdid find materials
related to these eleven (11) patients.
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on behalf of L. Bishop (Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 1)t Humana argues that this letter does not
qgualify as an Appeal Letter because counselisentbehalf of St. Charles Surgical Hospital and
not the Center. The Court has already rejetttesdargument for the claims pertaining to K.
Mallory, so the Court will deny summary judgmemt L. Bishop’s claim. Again, the discussion
pertaining to the Court’s potentialisinterpretation of the cliaas, as outlined in the section
dedicated to K. Mallory, ab applies.

Humana further contends that it never reedian assignment of rights on behalf of L.
Bishop and attaches a declavatby Latonia Gentry, a Humana €omer Service Analyst, as
support for this contention. (Rec. Doc. 171-2 at 12)Bishop’s Appeal Letter, however, states
that it attached a sign@gsignment of benefits. (Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 24-25). Accordingly, the
Court finds a disputed material fact as to eetPlaintiffs supplied Humana with an assignment
of benefits signed by L. Bishop and will therefa@teny summary judgment on that claim.

e T.Wells

Humana argues that T.Wells failed to exhduggtadministrative remedies for her service
provided by the Center on August 26, 2012. Wells’ plan include a section entitled,
“Designation of an Authorized Representative,” which states:

You may authorize someone elsdfite and pursue a claim or file
an appeal on your behalf. Genegrathis authorization must be in
writing and signed by you....An assignment to a health care
provider for purposes of payment does not constitute appointment
of an authorized representativeder these claims procedures.
(Rec. Doc. 171-16 at 8-9). Ms. Gentry statetlen Declaration that “No Assignment of Rights

from [T.Wells] was received. As such, the correspondence was handled by the Provider

Correspondence Department, not the Appeals and Grievances Department.” (Rec. Doc. 171-15
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at 1). Plaintiffs, however, included an Appeatteewritten on behalf of . Wells for the August
26, 2011 service and states:

| have also enclosed a copy af document that is entitled
“Assignment of Benefits and Authaation for the Hospital to Act

as your Authorized RepresentativeClaims for Benefits” that has
been signed by your insured. Thagal document specifically sets
forth your insured’s assignment alf applicable isurance benefits

for the professional services progit by the Hospital. Further in
said document, your insured also has expressly: 1) appointed the
Hospital and anyone acting on Hadf of the Hospital as the
insured’s true lawful attorney to act on the insured’s behalf to
collect benefits related to the services provided to the hospital; 2)
authorized the Hospital and anyameting under authority from the
Hospital to provide medicalecords and medical information
compiled in the course of the insured’s treatment for review and/or
copying; 3) appointed the Hospital and anyone acting under its
authority to act as theuthorized representative as a claimant under
ERISA; and 4) assigned the rigtat file appeals on the insured’s
behalf.

(Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 46-47). This letseipports a finding that &htiffs did submit an
assignment of patient’s rights aodnflicts with Ms. Gentry’s ssertion. The Court thus finds
there is a disputed material fact as to wheBaintiffs submitted an assignment of T. Wells’
rights and finds that summary judgmeninappropriate at this time.

o K. Stafford

Humana argues that the Court should disitiesclaim for services rendered to K.
Stafford by the physicians associated with @enter on October 3, 2009, because Ms. Stafford

never appealed the administrative denial of heebts. Plaintiffs failed to include any Appeal

Letters sent on behalf of Ms. Staffordamy evidence that Ms. Stafford exhausted her
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administrative remedi€s Accordingly, the Court finds it andisputed fact that Ms. Stafford
failed to exhaust her administrative remeaiad dismisses her claim without prejudice.

e D.Grab

Humana contends that the Court should disrthe claim for services rendered to D.
Grab by St. Charles on June 14, 28h2cause Ms. Grab failed to exhaust her administrative
remedies since her Appeal Letter, dated July2@Q2, failed to include an assignment of rights.
As an attachment to Plaintiffs’ opposition, Pléfstincluded an Appeal Letter dated September
8, 2012, and sent on behalf of Ms. Grab fordhee 14, 2012 service. dtletter states:

| have also enclosed a copy af document that is entitled
“Assignment of Benefits and Authaation for the Hospital to Act

as your Authorized RepresentativeClaims for Benefits” that has
been signed by your insured. Thagal document specifically sets
forth your insured’s assignment ait applicable isurance benefits

for the professional services progitl by the Hospital. Further in
said document, your insured also has expressly: 1) appointed the
Hospital and anyone acting on Hadf of the Hospital as the
insured’s true lawful attorney to act on the insured’s behalf to
collect benefits related to the services provided to the hospital; 2)
authorized the Hospital and anyaam&ting under authority from the
Hospital to provide medicalecords and medical information
compiled in the course of the insured’s treatment for review and/or
copying; 3) appointed the Hospital and anyone acting under its
authority to act as theuthorized representative as a claimant under
ERISA; and 4) assigned the rigtat file appeals on the insured’s
behalf.

(Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 52-53). As such, the Counddithere is a disputedaterial fact as to

whether D. Grab provided an assignment oftsghnd summary judgmeistnot appropriate.

"Humana states in its Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Partial summary Judgateé®iaintiffs
sent an Appeal Letter on behalf of K. Stafford, but the Court did not find this letter in Plaintiffs’ attachments or in
the provided record.

8 Humana states the date of service was on June 14, 2012 in its Memorandum in Support of its Motion of
Partial Summary Judgment (Rec. Doc. 171-2 at 13) but states that the service occurred on July 14, 2012 in its reply.
Based on the body of evidence, including Plaintiffs’ Appeal Letter, the Court condudesired on June 14,
2012.
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e J. Williamson
Humana argues that the Court should grantrsary judgment on the claims for services
rendered to J. Williamson by St. Charles on Seyier 13, 2012 for Ms. Williamson'’s failure to
exhaust her administrative remedies. Plaintifts/ated an Appeal Letter that provided for an
assignment of rights and also attached a copy of Ms. Williamson’s signed assignment of rights.
(Rec. Doc. 204-3 at 57-63). Humana aversithas no record of receiving the assignment
document. (Rec. Doc. 221 at 6). As support for its assertion, Huntaclaest a Declaration by
Ms. Gentry that attests to this point. Based amekidence, the Court finds there is a disputed
material fact as to whether J. Williamson or the Plaintiffs sent Humana Ms. Williamson’s
assignment of right. Accordingly, the Cowill not grant summary judgment on Ms.
Williamson’s claim.
e E. Kennedy
Finally, Humana seeks summary judgment on claims for services provided to E. Kennedy
on December 21, 2011 by St. Charles for failurexioaust her administrative remedies.
Humana argues that it did not receive angasaent of rights signed by Ms. Kennedy. (Rec.
Doc. 171-2 at 15, 221 at 6). Humana attachHeedaration by Ms. Gentriestifying to this
contention. In response, Plaffgisupplied an Appeal Letter wten on behalf of E. Kennedy for
the December 21, 2011 service and states:
| have also enclosed a copy af document that is entitled
“Assignment of Benefits and Authaation for the Hospital to Act
as your Authorized RepresentativeClaims for Benefits” that has
been signed by your insured. Thagal document specifically sets
forth your insured’s assignment alf applicable isurance benefits
for the professional services progit by the Hospital. Further in
said document, your insured also has expressly: 1) appointed the
Hospital and anyone acting on Had¢f of the Hospital as the

insured’s true lawful attorney to act on the insured’s behalf to
collect benefits related to the services provided to the hospital; 2)
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authorized the Hospital and anyameting under authority from the

Hospital to provide medicalecords and medical information

compiled in the course of the insured’s treatment for review and/or

copying; 3) appointed the Hospital and anyone acting under its

authority to act as theuthorized representative as a claimant under

ERISA; and 4) assigned the rigtat file appeals on the insured’s

behalf.
(Rec. Doc. 204-2 at 48-49). Based on these fwse is a disputed matakifact as to whether
Plaintiffs sent Humana an assignment ghts signed by E. Kennedy, and the Court will not
grant summary judgment at this time.

In sum, Humana’s Motion for Partial Summardgment Based on Plaintiffs’ Failure to
Exhaust Administrative Remedies (Rec. Doc. 17GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN
PART. The Motion iSGRANTED as to Plaintiffs’ claims asserted on behalf of T. Lymuel, P.
Schembre, and K. Stafford. The MotiorDENIED as to Plaintiffs’ claims asserted on behalf
of K. Mallory, R. P. Bryan, J.R. Bosch, L.diop, T. Wells, D. Grab, J. Williamson, and E.
Kennedy.

II. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons,

IT IS ORDERED that Humana’'s Motion for Partiummary Judgment on Plaintiffs’
Procedural Violation Clans (Rec. Doc. 164) GRANTED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Humana’'s Motion for Pal Summary Judgment for
Dismissal of ERISA Claims Time Barred by Cattual Limitations Period (Rec. Doc. 167) is
DENIED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Humana’'s Motion foPartial Summary Judgment

Based on Improper Defendant (Rec. Doc. 16@RANTED IN PART andDENIED IN
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PART. ItisGRANTED as to the claims of L. O'Brien. It BENIED as to the claims of R.P.
Bryan, K. Stafford, and J. Sheehan;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Humana’s Motion for Pal Summary Judgment as
to Plaintiffs’ 502(c) Clains (Rec. Doc. 170) GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN
PART. The Motion iSGRANTED as to the Section 502(c) afas of L. O’'Brien. Itis
DENIED as to the Section 502(c) claims of R.Pydr, K. Stafford, and J. Sheehan. The Court
withholds ruling on the Section 5@ claims based on other patig until Plaintiffs provide
further information. Specifically, the Court ordétgintiffs to (1) writeto the Court and clarify
which of the 54 Patients on behalf of whom Riifis assert Section 1132(c) claims, and (2)
provide the supporting documentation for eacthoke patients’ clear notices of document
requests within fifteen (15) days of this OrdeR&asons. If Plaintiffs fail to satisfy both steps
for those remaining patients, the Court will grant summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ Section
1132(c) claims for those patients in favor ofrfana. Plaintiffs shall also supplement the
materials before the Court and specify, based estipplemented materials or other evidence in
the record, when the p@ptive period began fazachpatient’s Section 1132(c) claim(s).
Humana will then have an opportunity to respoRthintiffs shall provide this material on or
before fifteen (15) days from &g of this Order & Reasons;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Humana’'s Motion foPartial Summary Judgment
Based on Plaintiffs’ Failure to Exhaust idhistrative Remedies (Rec. Doc. 1715RANTED
IN PART AND DENIED IN PART . The Motion iSGRANTED as to Plaintiffs’ claims
asserted on behalf of T. Lymuel, Ph8mbre, and K. Stafford. The motiorDENIED as to
Plaintiffs’ claims asserted on behalf of K. MailloR. P. Bryan, J.R. Bosch, L. Bishop, T. Wells,

D. Grab, J. Williamson, and E. Kennedy;
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Plaintiffs shall submit to the Court a chart
detailingeachERISA claim asserted and the releviaats, including the geent on behalf of
whom the claim is asserted, thealaf service, the provider, datef appeals, dates of document
requests, and any other material miation that relates to the clairRlaintiffs shall provide this

chart within thirty (30) days ahis Order & Reasons.

New Orleans, Louisiana this 8lay of July, 2015.

e &l

UNITED STATESDISTRICTJUDGE

50



